**RECEIVED**

**Apr 28 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2018-CP-07-00911  
Appellant Case No. 2022-000016

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did Judge Price have subject matter jurisdiction and authority to overrule Judge DeBerry and declare unenforceable the parties' contractual indemnity and duty to defend only two business days after entry of Judge DeBerry's written summary judgment order?
2. Did Judge Price exceed his authority in attempting to force a settlement of the case?
3. Did Judge Price incorrectly read into S.C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 a prohibition on a duty to defend, which was not included in that statute by the General Assembly?
4. Did Judge Price incorrectly override the parties' contractual agreement by ruling that the respondents' respective duties to indemnify and defend are not separate, distinct and independent obligations?
5. Did Judge Price incorrectly rule that the parties' contractual provisions concerning indemnity and duty to defend were unenforceable as a matter of law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced on May 1, 2018. It sought damages for alleged deficiencies concerning construction and landscaping of the plaintiffs' homes and yards in the Tidewater Creek subdivision in Beaufort County. The plaintiffs are the owners of 15 homes there. The defendants are various contractors and appellant D. R. Horton, Inc., which developed the subdivision. All of the plaintiffs' claims have now been settled.

The appeal concerns cross-claims by appellant Horton against three of the respondent/defendant contractors: Lather Construction, Inc., Hutton's Landscapes, Inc. and East Coast Construction Cleanup Corp. Appellant initially cross-claimed on December 2, 2019. It subsequently amended; its cross-claims on appeal were filed on August 23, 2021. Appellant had cross-claimed against other defendants, but those cross-claims are not involved in this appeal.

The cross-claims against these three respondents were for equitable indemnification and contractual indemnification and defense obligations. The equitable indemnification cross-claims

are not involved in this appeal. The appeal concerns only the contractual indemnification and defense obligations of respondents Lather, Hutton's and East Coast to appellant Horton.

Respondent Lather moved for summary judgment on the cross-claims on October 8, 2021. Respondent Hutton's so moved on October 19, 2021. The gravamen of the motions was that the contractual indemnification and defense obligations were unenforceable. The Hon. H. Steven DeBerry heard these motions on October 29, 2021, and denied them on November 12, 2021. His orders denying the motions were filed within an hour after respondent East Coast filed its memorandum in support of its similar motion for summary judgment, which it filed on November 10, 2021. East Coast's legal arguments are the same as Lather's and Hutton's and were determined as a matter of law in the case by Judge DeBerry when he ruled on the same legal issues on November 12, 2021.<sup>1</sup>

Certain of the plaintiffs' claims were outstanding against the appellant and these three respondents when trial began on Monday, November 15, 2021. It was a jury trial before the Hon. Bentley Price. During the first two days of trial, the respondents argued that their contractual indemnification and defense obligations were unenforceable. On November 16, 2021, Judge Price verbally granted the respondents' summary judgment motions during a hearing to bifurcate, dismissed appellant's cross claims and directed a verdict against it on its cross-claims. The three respondents settled with the plaintiffs, leaving appellant as the sole defendant at trial even though the equitable indemnification factual issues could not have been decided until after a jury verdict. On Friday, November 19, 2021, the jury returned a verdict against appellant D. R. Horton for \$140,000.

---

<sup>1</sup> East Coast did not argue otherwise before the trial court.

On November 24, 2021, pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCPP, appellant D. R. Horton moved to alter or amend Judge Price’s bench ruling that these sections of its contracts with these respondents were unenforceable. On November 29, 2021, it moved for J.N.O.V., or in the alternative for a new trial absolute or new trial nisi remittitur. Judge Price denied the motions on December 3, 2021. Notice of appeal was served December 30, 2021.

Appellant Horton settled with the plaintiffs after trial and that verdict is not involved in this appeal. This appeal involves the ruling of Judge Price that the contractual indemnification and defense obligations of these three respondents is unenforceable. The estimated amount involved in the appeal of that ruling is well in excess of \$1,500,000.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The appellate court reviews the grant of a summary judgment motion de novo as to matters of law. “When reviewing the grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRP.” *Savannah Bank, N.A. v Stalliard*, 400 S.C. 246, 250, 734 S.E.2d 161, 163 (S.C. 2012) (quoting *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (S.C. 2002)). “Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law. To withstand a motion for summary judgment ‘in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.’” *Id.* (quoting *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Ins.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (S.C. 2009)).

### **SUMMARY OF FACTS**

The contractual provisions at issue are identical. They are contained in a printed form agreement titled “South Carolina Independent Contractor Agreement (‘ICA’).” Section 10

concerns the respondents' indemnification and defense obligations. Section 11 requires them to provide insurance for those obligations and to name appellant D. R. Horton as an additional insured. (All three contracts between appellant and respondents) R.pp. 942 – 948; R.pp. 904 – 935; R.pp. 879 - 893

Insurance is more than a theoretical part of these indemnifications and obligations. It is critical in this case because respondents Lather and Hutton's are out of business. (Defendant Lather Construction SC, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Claims of Plaintiffs and D. R. Horton, Inc., including Exhibits D and F) R.p. 79, paras. 6 & 9; R.pp. 614:23 – 618:10

Respondent Lather's "Work generally consists of clearing, grading and constructing the water, sewer, drainage, and roads for the proposed residential subdivision." (Article I – WORK 1.01, Document 00505 Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor.) R.p. 157 The lump sum price was \$1,014,423.63. (Agreement, Article 5.) R.p. 158 Clearly, Lather was a sophisticated contractor.

According to Hutton's contract its work included "rough grade, final grade, landscape turnkey, landscaping, sod/seed, trees, backfill foundations/crawl spaces, flatwork labor turnkey, forming, pouring, stripping forms, slab backfill, and house slab turnkey (monolithic)." (Hutton's Landscapes, Inc.'s Memorandum of Law in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment on the Cross-Claims of D. R. Horton, Inc. (Pp. 1-4 and Ex. A. Contract.) R.pp. 298 – 301; R.pp. 317 – 348 It was likewise a sophisticated contractor.

East Coast had been working with Horton at least since November 30, 2012, the date of its contract and before the Tidewater development began. (East Coast contract.) R.pp. 879 - 893 Horton did not even buy the land for Tidewater Creek until 2013 and the engineering specifications were not prepared until June 30, 2014. R.p. 636:10 – 23 (Contract Documents and

Specifications for Tidewater Creek.) R.pp. 879 – 893 Exhibit A to its contract provided that it was to “supply all material, equipment, and labor necessary to complete the landscaping final grade phase of construction” and “pick up all construction debris a minimum of 5 days/week.” R.pp. 885 – 887 Item 22 of that Exhibit also provided “Subcontractor shall comply with all insurance requirements including the subcontractor agreement before setting foot on any D. R. Horton site.” R.p. 891 Each and every page was signed or initialed. East Coast knew exactly what was required, including the requirement of insurance.

When plaintiffs sued D.R. Horton, D.R. Horton tendered the suit to the respondents to defend. No respondent or respondent insurance company provided D.R. Horton a defense. R.p. 715:13 – 15; R.p. 718:7 - 22 Instead, the respondents filed motions for summary judgment to evade their obligations and their insurance company’s obligations under the obligation to indemnify and duty to defend provisions of the ICA contract. R.pp. 140 – 143; R.pp. 144 – 146; R.pp. 425 – 427 Judge DeBerry heard the motions for summary judgment and denied them in a Form 4 Order that stated there were material issues of fact. The respondents asked Judge DeBerry to hold the contractual provisions unenforceable as a matter of law. He refused. There was no reason for Judge DeBerry to decide that factual issues existed unless he had first decided that the indemnification and duty to defend provisions were enforceable as a matter of law. Had he decided that the provisions were unenforceable as a matter of law, that would have been the end of the matter.

Instead, Judge DeBerry denied the summary judgment motions and ruled on November 12, 2021. (Orders, Nov. 12, 2021) R.p. 1 – 3; R.p. 4 – 6 Two business days later, on the second day of trial, Judge Price overruled Judge DeBerry and decided “that the contract indemnification and Subsection 10 is unenforceable. I think it’s an adhesion contract. I think it’s take-it-or-leave-

it. I think it's similar and likened to a non-compete in the sense that if the opposing party doesn't have a whole lot of negotiating power, then it can be deemed unenforceable. I don't think it's enforceable. I think it violates public policy." R.pp. 722:17 – 24 Over appellants objection, Judge Price decided the issue during a hearing on the respondents so-called 'motion to bifurcate,' which was in reality their motions for summary judgment that were simply presented a second time and to a second judge after receiving a decision against them by the first judge. R.pp. 703:5

– 10

This appeal concerns the authority of Judge Price to overrule Judge DeBerry.

### ARGUMENTS

1. DID JUDGE PRICE HAVE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY TO OVERRULE JUDGE DEBERRY AND DECLARE UNENFORCEABLE THE PARTIES' CONTRACTUAL INDEMNITY AND DUTY TO DEFEND ONLY TWO BUSINESS DAYS AFTER ENTRY OF JUDGE DEBERRY'S WRITTEN SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDER?

This is the threshold issue in this appeal. If the Court agrees with appellant that Judge Price did not have authority to overrule Judge DeBerry, the appellants request that the Court remand the case to the trial court for a trial on appellant's cross-claims.

It is settled law in South Carolina that one trial judge may not overrule another trial judge because doing so is reserved to the appellate courts. "It is axiomatic . . . a Circuit Judge does not have the power to reverse the ruling of another Circuit Judge." *Tisdale v. Am. Life Ins. Co.*, 216 S.C. 10, 13, 56 S.E.2d 580, 581 (S.C. 1949). "The rule is well settled that the prior order of one Circuit Judge may not be modified by the subsequent order of another Circuit Judge, except in cases when the right to do so has been reserved to the succeeding Judge, when it is allowed by rule of Court or statute or when the subsequent order does not alter or substantially affect the ruling or decision represented by the previous order." *Dinkins v. Robbins*, 203 S.C. 199, 202, 26 S.E.2d 689, 690 (S.C. 1943) (citing *Mut. Bldg. Loan Ass'n of Sumter v. Hewson*, 196 S.C. 181,

12 S.E.2d 715 (S.C. 1940)); *see also Charleston Co. Dep't Soc. Serv. v. Father*, 317 S.C. 283, 288, 454 S.E.2d 307, 310 (S.C. 1995) (citing *Tisdale*, 216 S.C. at 13 and *Dinkins*, 203 S.C. at 202), (“There is a long-standing rule in this State that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another. . . . Accordingly, we hold a successor judge may not substitute his own judgment for that of the trial judge.”).

The question in *Dinkins* was: “Does a Circuit Judge have jurisdiction and power to grant a compulsory order of reference as to certain equitable issues raised by the pleadings when a former Circuit Judge has refused a general order of reference, from which there has been no appeal?” 203 S.C. at 202. The *Dinkins* Court decided that the prior judge’s decision to not refer any issues on a general order of reference embraced all matters that could have been referred. *Id.* Thus, a subsequent circuit judge could not parse out equitable issues for referral.

In *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 604, 340 S.E.2d 546 (S.C. 1986), the court confirmed that “[O]ne Circuit Court Judge does not have the authority to set aside the order of another (citing Circuit Court Rule 60 and *Cook v. Taylor*, 272 S.C. 536, 252 S.E.2d 923 (S.C. 1979)). “The effect of Judge Pyle’s order was to reverse the earlier substantive order, clearly an impermissible act.” Respondents erred under the rules of civil procedure when they repeatedly asked the court to revisit the Judge DeBerry’s decision. Rule 41(l), SCRCF prohibits repeat motions on the same facts. “If any motion be made to any judge and be denied, in whole or in part, or be granted conditionally, no subsequent motion upon the same state of facts shall be made to any other judge in the action.” *Id.*

Similarly, in this case, Judges DeBerry and Price are both Circuit Judges. Judge DeBerry had before him the entirety of the summary judgment motions, including the additional insured

(AI) issue<sup>2</sup> – both as to matters of law and issues of fact. He declined to find for the respondents on any issue. To consider the factual issues, he first would have decided that the contract was enforceable as a matter of law. If it were not enforceable as a matter of law, he would have had no reason to then consider factual issues. This was specifically brought to Judge Price’s attention by appellant’s counsel.

MS. PETERSON: . . . A judge has already decided as a matter of law that it’s not unenforceable. R.p. 680:5 – 6

Judge Price apparently recognized this and acknowledged earlier that he did not have the power to rule on the matter that Judge DeBerry had already ruled on. R.pp. 676:23 – 677:6

MS. PETERSON: If this case is to go forward with the trial and the jury deciding, then we believe it’s wholly improper for the summary judgment to be re-heard.

THE COURT: I agree with that. I don’t think I can do that. So I’m agreeing with you 100% on that. That is what we talked about. I don’t think that is something I can do. You don’t get to just bring it back up again, because a prior circuit judge has already ruled on that. So I am with you on that. R.p. 676:23 – 677:6

Respondents’ counsel then proceeded to re-argue their summary judgment motions under the guise of a motion to bifurcate. R.p. 678:12 – 723:6 In doing so, they put front and center

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant attached the insurance contract to its response to respondents’ motions for summary judgment. The AI coverage each respondent was required to provide to appellant covers the duty to defend and the duty to indemnify, which is critical because respondents Hutton’s and Lather are no longer in business. At its heart, this is an insurance claim case.

exactly the same matter that Judge DeBerry had decided on the motions for summary judgment, namely the enforceability of the contractual indemnity and duty to defend.<sup>3</sup>

MS. LUCEY: A lot of uncertainty for us in terms of trying to resolve the claim. . . . Another alternative, Your Honor, is for Hutton's and likely Lather to raise a motion -- in an effort to expedite the trial, raise a motion to bifurcate the cross-claims.

But I think the threshold issue and whether we can bifurcate the claims is to determine whether or not the contractual indemnity provision would remain enforceable. If they are enforceable – if they are not enforceable, which is our position, then there is no reason to bifurcate them, and they can be dismissed. And that's already been decided then, Your Honor. R.p. 678:9 – 22

Appellant's counsel objected because the matter had already been heard and decided by Judge DeBerry. R.p. 680:5 – 6 Albeit, Judge Price allowed a motion to bifurcate after the trial had already commenced and then turned it into a rehearing of the summary judgment motions.

---

<sup>3</sup> At the pretrial summary judgment hearing before Judge DeBerry, Respondents argued that as a matter of law the indemnity and duty to defend provisions violated public policy and were therefore unenforceable as to S.C. Code Ann. § 32-2-10 and under the “clear and unequivocal” standard when an indemnitee will be indemnified for its concurrent negligence. R.p. 574:10 – 579:14 (contractual indemnity and duty to defend) and R.p. 564:8 – 565:3 (“clear and unequivocal”). Judge DeBerry declined to find for Respondents. It is not surprising that Judge DeBerry did not find for Respondents because neither the indemnity provision nor the duty to defend provision violate public policy, as discussed in this brief. Additionally, the indemnity language is clear and unequivocal and follows the language the court suggested in *Concord & Cumberland Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC*, 424 S.C. 639, 658 n. 6, 819 S.E.2d 166, 176 n. 6 (S.C. App. 2018). The same arguments based on the same legal theories were then raised before Judge Price two business days after Judge DeBerry's ruling.

MS. LUCEY: At this time, may I make a motion to bifurcate the contractual and equitable indemnity claims that D.R. Horton has asserted against Hutton's?

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. ROSS: [Lather] would like to join, Your Honor.

MR. CLOUD: East Coast would join in that as well.

MS. PETERSON: For the record, I think any arguments that go to the enforceability of contracts and which contracts apply have already been dealt with on the summary judgment motion. They made the same arguments, and the Court did not rule in their favor. R.p. 702:24 – 703:10

Over counsel's objection and against what Judge Price himself had correctly recognized earlier as settled law precluding him from overruling another Circuit Judge, R.p. 677:1 – 6, Judge Price then proceeded to rule on exactly the same issue that Judge DeBerry had previously decided.

Without subject matter jurisdiction or authority, Judge Price reversed Judge DeBerry. R.p. 722:17 – 18

If the Court agrees with appellant that Judge Price did not have authority to overrule Judge DeBerry and remands the case for trial on appellant's cross-claims against respondents, the Court need not reach any of the other issues on appeal.

## 2. DID JUDGE PRICE EXCEED HIS AUTHORITY IN ATTEMPTING TO FORCE A SETTLEMENT OF THE CASE?

Judge Price declared the contractual indemnity and defense obligations of the respondents to be unenforceable in order to force the appellant to settle the case. He did this for three reasons. The first is that he had to be out of town on Thursday night and wanted the trial to

be finished by then. The second is that his daughter's birthday party was the next day, and he did not want the trial to interfere with it. The third is that the trial was for only one of 15 homes in the same case, and there was another home in a related case (*Eberly*) also to be tried for a total of 15 future trials. Judge Price seemed to want no part of these other looming trials.

This perspective emerges from a review of the trial transcript, beginning with his greeting of the jury pool on Monday and culminating in a threat, invasion of the attorney-client privilege, and improper settlement disclosures over appellant's objection. On the first day,

THE COURT: There is one trial this week. It will last for about four days. R.p. 612:14 – 15

After the jury was selected, he returned to the duration of the trial.

THE COURT: Again, I am not sure exactly how long it will last, but in doing so, we think it should last until Thursday. R.p. 613:7 – 8

Sensing Judge Price's underlying concerns, the respondents seized the moment and renewed their motions for summary judgment under the guise of a motion to bifurcate. (See Issue 1 of Argument.) Not surprisingly, their argument was that if Judge Price would rule with them, that would simplify things and speed up the trial. Appellant's counsel resisted and suggested that the trial proceed.

MR. NAIL: I would just suggest, Your Honor, that maybe we see how much we get through today. R.p. 680:17 – 18

With Thursday and Friday on his mind, Judge Price demurred.

THE COURT: The concern I have, of course, with that – I am fine with that. But if we don't get through enough, we have backed ourselves into a corner. R.p. 680:19 – 21

Respondents' counsel then played the Thursday card by name.

MS. LUCEY: Your honor, based on – I can't imagine we would finish by Thursday. R.p. 680:22 – 23

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