RECEIVED

May 18 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE BENTLEY D. PRICE
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE**

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000016

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

ARGUMENT

I. Judge Price as the trial judge had the authority to rule that the contractual indemnity provisions between D.R. Horton and Hutton’s Landscapes were void and unenforceable as a matter of law.

D.R. Horton first argues in its appeal that Judge Price had no authority to rule upon the validity and enforceability of the indemnity provisions in the Contract between D.R. Horton and Hutton’s Landscapes. The basis of D.R. Horton’s argument is that Judge DeBerry had previously denied Hutton’s Landscapes’ motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of the contractual indemnity claim due to the unenforceability of the

indemnity provisions. D.R. Horton contends that Judge Price could not revisit the Judge DeBerry's denial of the motion for summary judgment.

It has long been established under South Carolina law that the “denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case, but simply decides the case should proceed to trial.” Ballenger v. Bowen, 313 S.C. 476, 477, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994). This State's Supreme Court has emphasized that the denial of motion for summary judgment does not establish the law of the case, and the issues raised in the motion may be raised again later in the proceedings. Id.; see also S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Wilson, 437 S.C. 334, 340, 878 S.E.2d 891, 894 (2022) (observing that because the law of the case doctrine does not apply to interlocutory orders, such orders “may be reconsidered and corrected by the court before entering a final order on the merits.”) (internal citation omitted).

Furthermore, because the denial of a motion for summary judgment does not finally determine anything about the merits of the case, an order denying a motion for summary judgment is never appealable, even after trial or final judgment. Ballenger, 313 S.C. at 477-48, 443 S.E.2d at 380; see also Olson v. Fac. House of Carolina, Inc., 354 S.C. 161, 168, 580 S.E.2d 440, 444 (2003); Holloman v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) (“[T]he denial of a motion for summary judgment before trial is not reviewable after a trial of a case on its merits.”).

Judge DeBerry's Form 4 Order denied Hutton's Landscapes' motion for summary judgment seeking a decision that the indemnity provisions were void and unenforceable, and he ruled in a one sentence order that issues of material fact existed on the matter at hand. [R.p. 4; Form 4 Order.] Judge DeBerry's denial decided nothing about the merits of the contractual indemnity cross-claim, including whether the indemnity provisions were

enforceable. Judge DeBerry's denial, which determined nothing and did not establish the law of the case, was not immediately appealable and in fact, can never be appealed by Hutton's Landscapes.

Therefore, Judge Price, as the trial judge, had full and complete authority to determine whether the indemnity provisions were enforceable or unenforceable as a matter of law. Indeed, Judge Price was required to make the threshold determination of whether such provisions were enforceable or not in deciding whether the contractual indemnity claim should proceed to the jury since the construction and enforceability of a clear and unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court to determine. Williams v. Gov't Emps. Ins. Co. (GEICO), 409 S.C. 586, 594, 762 S.E.2d 705, 710 (2014). During arguments with Judge Price regarding the issue, D.R. Horton's counsel at one point agreed that the issue of enforceability was within Judge Price's purview. [R.p. 680, ll. 9-15; Nov. 16, 2021 Tr., p., 10, ll. 9-15.]

If this Court were to accept D.R. Horton's argument that Judge Price could not revisit Judge DeBerry's denial of the motion for summary judgment, then Hutton's Landscapes would be precluded from ever being able to challenge whether the indemnity provisions were enforceable because the denial of a summary judgment is never appealable, even after a trial on the merits or final judgment. See Weil v. Weil, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989). The law instead authorized Judge Price as the trial judge to rule on the enforceability of the indemnity provisions.

The case law cited by D.R. Horton that one trial judge may not overrule another trial judge is inapplicable. These cases each involved orders which were considered immediately appealable or otherwise not challenged as non-appealable and thus established

the law of the case when left unappealed. As such, in these cases, a subsequent judge could not overrule a prior judge because the previous order was the law of the case. See Tisdale v. Am. Life Ins. Co., 216 S.C. 10, 56 S.E.2d 580 (1949) (circuit court judge did not have power to reverse ruling of another circuit judge on an unappealed order denying a motion to change venue which was considered immediately appealable at the time); Dinkins v. Robbins, 203 S.C. 199, 26 S.E.2d 689 (1943) (where there was no appeal from former circuit judge's order refusing a general order of reference, subsequent circuit judge was not authorized to grant a compulsory order of reference as to certain equitable issues since the unappealed former order was the law of the case); Mut. Bldg. & Loan Ass'n of Sumter v. Hewson, 196 S.C. 181, 12 S.E.2d 715 (1940) (same as Dinkins); see also Charleston Cnty. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Father, Stepmother, & Mother, 317 S.C. 283, 288, 454 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1995) (holding successor judge could not substitute his own judgment for that of the trial judge and could not grant a new trial unless certain conditions met); Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher, 287 S.C. 602, 340 S.E.2d 546 (1986) (one circuit judge cannot reverse a prior *substantive* order of another circuit judge); Cook v. Taylor, 272 S.C. 536, 252 S.E.2d 923 (1979) (same as Dinkins).

As explained above, Judge DeBerry's denial of Hutton's Landscapes motion for summary judgment did not establish the law of the case. Accordingly, Judge Price was not precluded from revisiting the issue of whether the indemnity provisions were enforceable or invalid.

II. The contractual indemnity provisions are void and unenforceable under South Carolina's Anti-Indemnity Statute because these provisions require Hutton's Landscapes to defend D.R. Horton against all of the plaintiffs' claims, including claims based on D.R. Horton's sole negligence, or to reimburse D.R. Horton for all sums accrued on account of the claims, including those related to its sole negligence.

The Indemnity and Reimbursement Clauses in the Contract between D.R. Horton and Hutton's Landscapes are unenforceable under South Carolina's Anti-Indemnity Statute because these clauses require Hutton's Landscapes to defend and/or pay damages, such as attorneys' fees and costs, for D.R. Horton's sole negligence. Accordingly, Judge Price correctly determined that D.R. Horton could not proceed on its contractual indemnity claim against Hutton's Landscapes.

South Carolina's Anti-Indemnity Statute, S.C. CODE ANN. § 32-2-10, prohibits any promise or agreement in a construction contract which requires a promisor to indemnify the promisee for the promisee's sole negligence:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, **a promise or agreement** in connection with the design, planning, construction, alteration, repair or maintenance of a building, structure, highway, road, appurtenance or appliance, including moving, demolition and excavating, **purporting to indemnify the promisee**, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees **against liability for damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage proximately caused by or resulting from the sole negligence of the promisee**, its independent contractors, agents, employees, or indemnitees **is against public policy and unenforceable**. Nothing contained in this section shall affect a promise or agreement whereby the promisor shall indemnify or hold harmless the promisee or the promisee's independent contractors, agents, employees or indemnitees against liability for damages resulting from the negligence, in whole or in part, of the promisor, its agents or employees. The provisions of this section shall not affect any insurance contract or workers' compensation agreements; nor shall it apply to any electric utility, electric cooperative, common carriers by rail and their corporate affiliates or the South Carolina Public Service Authority.

Id. (emphasis added).

While the Indemnity Clause in the Contract between D.R. Horton and Hutton's Landscapes purports to exclude from indemnity liability for D.R. Horton's sole negligence, contained within the same Indemnity Clause is a broad and expansive duty to defend which requires Hutton's Landscapes to bear entirely the costs of D.R. Horton's defense regardless of whether Hutton's Landscapes is ultimately required to indemnify D.R. Horton:

Contractor's duty to defend is a separate, distinct, and independent obligation from its duty to indemnify and is triggered immediately when any claim, demand, or other assertion of liability is made against Indemnitee which potentially or arguably is subject to Contractor's duty to indemnify **regardless of Contractor's ultimate liability for indemnity**. Contractor must defend Indemnitee even where the allegations against Indemnitee are ambiguous or incomplete with respect to the issue of Contractor's duty to indemnify. Once the duty to defend is triggered, **Contractor is obligated to defend the entire action, lawsuit, arbitration, or other litigation, including any claims therein not subject to indemnity by Contractor**.

[R.p. 320; Contract, p. 4, § 10.1 (emphasis added).]

The Reimbursement Clause of the Contract further requires Hutton's Landscapes to reimburse D.R. Horton for "all expenditures" which it incurs on account of any claim against D.R. Horton without any limit as to what is being indemnified and without any exclusion for D.R. Horton's sole negligence:

Indemnitee shall have the right, if it so chooses in its absolute discretion, to defend all claims which may be asserted and **Contractor will reimburse Indemnitee for all expenditures** that Owner may incur on account of the claim.

[R.p. 320; Contract, p. 4, § 10.2 (emphasis added).]

The Indemnity Clause therefore requires Hutton's Landscapes to defend D.R. Horton against all of the plaintiffs' claims, including those based on D.R. Horton's sole negligence. The Reimbursement Clause requires Hutton's Landscapes to reimburse D.R. Horton for the entirety of its expenditures incurred on account of such claims without any

limitation. The plaintiffs asserted negligence claims against D.R. Horton and multiple subcontractors, including claims unrelated to Hutton's Landscapes' work and claims which could be attributed to solely D.R. Horton's negligence. In its cross-claim for contractual indemnity against Hutton's Landscapes, D.R. Horton sought to be fully reimbursed for the costs of the entire action pursuant to the terms of the Contract. [R.p. 100; Am. Cross-Claim, ¶ 96.]

The Indemnity and Reimbursement Clauses therefore violate the express prohibition under the Anti-Indemnity Statute which bars any promise to indemnify another for its sole negligence. See § 32-2-10. These indemnity provisions in the Contract between D.R. Horton and Hutton's Landscapes thus constitute an illegal contract which is unenforceable. See D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource – Southeast Group, LLC, 422 S.C. 144, 810 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2018) (finding indemnification clause void as against public policy to the extent it purported to require subcontractor to indemnify contractor for its own sole negligence); see also Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50, 54 n. 2, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 n.2 (1993) (recognizing that an illegal contract is unenforceable and that South Carolina courts will not enforce a contract which is violative of public policy, statutory law, or provisions of the constitution).

While the Anti-Indemnity Statute refers only to promises to “indemnify,” the term “indemnify” in a contractual indemnity context under South Carolina law encompasses a duty to defend as well. Under South Carolina law, the two duties are intimately related under the principles of contract indemnity. The right of indemnity under South Carolina law includes “the right to attorney's fees and litigation costs incurred in defending the underlying claim.” Fountain v. Fred's Inc., 429 S.C. 533, 558, 839 S.E.2d 475, 489 (Ct.

App. 2020), rev'd on other grounds, 436 S.C. 40, 871 S.E.2d 166 (2022); see also Addy v. Bolton, 257 S.C. 28, 34, 183 S.E.2d 708, 710 (1971) (holding “in actions of indemnity, brought where the duty to indemnify is either implied by law or arises under contract . . . reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in resisting the claim indemnified against may be recovered as part of the damages and expenses”).

Consequently, the Legislature's use of the term “indemnify” in the Anti-Indemnity Statute encompasses not only the scope of an indemnitor’s responsibility to pay damages, but also the scope of promises to defend claims brought against the indemnitee. Accordingly, the Anti-Indemnity Statute invalidates the Indemnity Clause in the Contract here because the Indemnity Clause requires Hutton’s Landscapes to defend D.R. Horton against all of the Plaintiffs’ claims, including those based on D.R. Horton’s own negligence. See Sunset Presbyterian Church v. Andersen Const. Co., 341 P.3d 192, 197-200 (Or. Ct. App. 2014) (finding Oregon’s anti-indemnity statute, which bars “any provision in a construction agreement that requires a person . . . to indemnify another against liability for damage arising out of death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in whole or in part by the negligence of the indemnitee,” applies to a duty to defend); see also Arthur v. State of Hawaii, 377 P.3d 26, 34-38 (Haw. 2016) (determining Hawaii's anti-indemnity statute, which bars indemnification for the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the indemnitee, by implication, voids a duty to defend such claims).

In addition, the Reimbursement Clause of the Contract explicitly violates the Anti-Indemnity Statute, regardless of whether the statute expressly refers to a duty to defend, because this provision obligates Hutton’s Landscapes to pay out sums to D.R. Horton for

all of its expenditures accrued on account of the claim, even for expenditures incurred by D.R. Horton due to its sole negligence.

D.R. Horton argues that because the Legislature did not expressly use the word “defend” in the Anti-Indemnity Statute, the statute does not void the indemnity provisions which render Hutton’s Landscapes liable to D.R. Horton for the entire amount of costs accrued on account of the plaintiffs’ action, including for D.R Horton’s sole negligence.

In using the term “indemnify” in the Anti-Indemnity Statute, however, the Legislature would have understood the meaning of the term as understood at common law in the context of contractual indemnity, which includes a duty to defend. See Addy, 257 S.C. at 34 183 S.E.2d at 710. “The General Assembly is presumed to be aware of the common law, . . . and where a statute uses a term that has a well-recognized meaning in the law, the presumption is that the General Assembly intended to use the term in that sense.” State v. Bridgers, 329 S.C, 11, 14, 495 S.E.2d 196, 197-98 (1997); see also AM. JUR. *Statutes* § 143 (“It is a familiar rule of construction that when a statute uses words which have a definite and well-known meaning at common law, it will be presumed that the terms are used in the sense in which they were understood at common law.”); Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 320 (2012) (“[W]ords undefined in a statute are to be interpreted and applied according to their common-law meanings.”).

Additionally, the language of a statute “must also be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” Eagle Container Co., LLC v. Cty. of Newberry, 379 S.C. 564, 570, 666 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2008) (internal citation omitted). The purpose of an anti-indemnity statute is to prohibit a general

contractor from shifting its exposure for its sole negligence to the subcontractor. See Sunset Presbyterian Church, 341 P.3d at 199. Anti-indemnity statutes are “designed to prevent parties with greater leverage in construction agreements (generally, owners and contractors) from shifting exposure for their own negligence to other parties (generally subcontractors) on a ‘take-it-or-leave-it’ basis.” Id. at 200 (internal citation omitted).

It is illogical that the Legislature would intend to protect subcontractors from agreements requiring them to indemnify general contractors against damages caused by the general contractors’ sole negligence, but yet intend that general contractors still be allowed to require subcontractors to defend them against claims for such damages. If an indemnitee is permitted to require an indemnitor to defend it for its sole negligence, this would have the effect of relieving the indemnitee from the consequences of its sole negligence, which is squarely what an anti-indemnity statute is designed to prohibit.

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